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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MICHELLE W. VULLINGS,
individually and on behalf of
others similarly situated
Plaintiff, : CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-4361
V.
ARCADIA RECOVERY BUREAU,LLC,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Smith, J. Juy 27, 2018

The plaintiff alleges that the defendant violated the Fair Debt Collectionidesaétct
whenit sent her a letter seeking to collect a debt otwether deceased mother’'s estate. The
defendant now moves feummary judgmentn all of the plaintiff's claims

Because the motion was filgutior to the close of discovery, the plaintiff contends that
the court should decline to address it. The plaistiébncerns are misplacbdcausehe record
presented is sufficient to resolve the legal issues presented in the mbtiorning then to the
substance of the motion, four of the five claims asserted in the plaintiff's athendglaint
lack a sufficient basis to proceed. Consequently, the court will grant the motion forasum
judgment as to those four claims, but deny the motion teteemaininglaim.

l. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On Septerner 29, 2017the plaintiff, Michelle Vullings (“Vullings”) filed a complaint
individually and on behalf of others similarly situateghinst the defendant, Arcadia Recovery
Bureau, LLC (“Arcadia”). SeeCompl. at 1, Doc. No. 1. Thaurportedclass actiorcomplaint

sought relief due tovarious alleged violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
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(“FDCPA"). See idat 6. Shortly thereafteArcadiafiled a motion to dismisshe complaint
SeeMot. to Dismiss for Lack of J. or Alternatively Failure to State a Claim,. Dloc 3. The
motion asserted that Vullings lacked standingueon her own behalf because the alleged debt
was in the name of an estate for which she was a personal represematitiatevenif she did
have standing, her complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief couddabted. See
Def.’s Br. in Supp. of its Mot. to Dismiss Class Action Comgdl.3-4, Doc. No. 31. On
December 1, 2017, the court granted the motion to dismibstbrgroundsbut granted Vullings
leave to file an amended complair@eeDec. 1, 2017 Order, Doc. No. 7.

Theparties then filedrossmotions for reconsideratiorSeeDef.’s Mot. for Reconsand
Relief from Order Granting PI. Leave to Amend Compl. (“Def.’s Mot. for Re&pri3oc. No. 8;
Pl’s Mot. for Recons.and Relief from Order Granting Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss for Lack of
Subject Matter Jurisdiction Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) and Failure to StatéralGider
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) (“Pl.’'s Mot. for Recons.”), Doc. No. 1lh general termsArcadia
believed that the court should not have graMallings leave to file an amended complaiand
Vullings believed the court should not hayented the motion to dismiss in the first instance.
SeegenerallyDef.’s Mot. for Recons. Pl.’s Mot. for Recons. The court discussed timeotions
for reconsideration with counsel in the Rule 16 scheduling conference on January 10, 2018.

During the Rule 16 conference, the court was able to resolvesghes raised in the
motions One of these issues was whether Vullings needed piorsuethe lawsuit in her
individual capacity and/or in her capacity the administratorof Gertrude Brtwistle’s estaté
She filed her original complaisolelyin her individual capacity.SeeCompl. at 1. At the Rule

16 conference, the court informed Vullings tife need toalso sue in her capacity as

! Although Vullings repeatedly refers to the decedent as “GertredtevBtle,” see, e.g.Amended Class Action
Complaint at 1 1, 9, it appears that her last name is properly speligd;jste.” Hereafter, the court will refer to
the estate of Gertrude Birtwistle as “Birtwistle’s Estate.”
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administratotto have any chance of recovery on twdnef fiveclaims. After hearing the court’s
views on the matter, Vullings agregafile an amended coptaint and pursue religbothin her
individual capacity and in her capacityadministratoiof theBirtwistle’s Estate

Accordingly, the court entered a scheduling order on January 10, 2018, inteclalia,
ordereaVullings to file an amended complaint by January 17, 2088&eSchedulingOrder, Doc.
No. 19. Vullings timely filed an amended complaint on January 16, 2018. Doc. Nolr2the
amended complaint, Vullings claimed violations of the FDCPA in her individuatitg@and as
administratorof the estate.SeegenerallyAm. Compl. Arcadiathen filed a motion to dismiss
the amended complaint insofar as Vullings was asserting claims agasshé&dministrator of
Birtwistle’s Estate SeeDef.’s Mot. to Dismiss Mihelle W. Vullings,as Adnir of the Estate of
Gertrude E. Birtwistle, Am. Class Action Compl. at 1, Doc. No. 3#ortly thereafterthe court
held a telephone conference with counsel for the parties during whitlimgs's counsel
informed the court tha¥ullings agreedo dismissherself as a named plaintiff insofar as she was
the administrator of Birtwistle’s §ate. As such, the court entered an order on February 21,
2018, which (1) dismissed by agreem@vichelle W. Vullings as administrator of trestate of
Gertrude Elizabeth BliJrtwistle . ,”.and (2) denied the motion to dismiss as md&eeFeb. 21,
2018 Order, Doc. No. 29.

Notably, Vullings did not agree to dismiss the claims that the court believed she could
only pursue in her capacity aslministratorof Birtwistle’s Estate. Cf. id. (dismissing, by
agreement, Michelle W. Vullings as administrator of the estate, but not dismisgimglaed
claims). Those claims are still in the case.

On May 7, 2018Arcadia filedthe instanimotion for summary judgment. Doc. No. 39.

Arcadia raisesiumerous argumenis the motion, but one of them is that Vullings does not have



standing to pursuewo of the fiveclaims in her individual capacity.€., she could only have
succeeded on those claimssife was suing in her capacity administratorof the estate).See
Def.’s Br. in Supp. of its Mot.dr Summ. J. (“Def.’s Br.”) at-55, Doc. No. 391. Vullings filed
a response in opposition to the motion for summary judgmemilay 21, 2018. Doc. No. 42.
Arcadia filed a reply in support of the motion for summary judgneenMay 29, 2018.Doc.
No. 46. The motion is now ripe for adjudication.
. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The undisputed material facts are as followAillings received a lettesent by Arcadia
through its vendor, Forte, Inc., d/b/a Probate FindgeeDef.’s Br. at 4;Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to
Def.’s Mot. forSumm.J. at 8 (“Pl.’s Br.”), Doc. No. 44. The letter indicated that Arcadmeas
attempting to collect a debt owed Bytwistle’s Estate SeeAm. Compl., Ex. B at ECF pp. 2
13 (“Letter”). Vullings and her brother, Michael Wynn, are “®ersonal Representativesf
Birtwistle’s Estate. SeeDef.’s Br. at 4 Pl.’s Br. at 7 The letteridentifies Birtwistle's Estateas
the debtor.Def.’s Br. at 4 Pl.’s Br. at 7 The letteralsoprovidesthe total unpaid balanad the
debt the “PF Reference N¢,” the “Probate Case Nl¢,” and the “Date of Death. Def.’s Br. at
4; Pl’s Br. at 7.

After listing this informatiorregarding the underlying debt, tlegter statess follows:

Dear Sir or Madam:

Enclosed herewith is a copy of the Creditor's Claim for the above referenced
estate.

If you have any questions or if this is a duplicate claim, please wattampany
at: 1-(800) 220-1622 [sic]

Cordially,
Arcadia Recovery Bureau, LLEPA
ATTN: PAMELA HOFFERT



*IMPORTANT INFORMATION*
Unless you notify this office within 30 days of receiving this notice that you
dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, tfige will assume this
debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after recegvin
this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this
office will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment and mail you a
copy of such judgment or verification. If you request of this office in writing
within 30 days after receiving this notice this office will provide you with the
name and address of the original creditor, if different from the curreditar.
The right to dispute within 30 days applies to any or all accounts listed on the
account detail attached to this letter.
This company is a debt collector. We are attempting to collect a debt and any
informationobtained will be used for that purpose.

Letter.

The letter was mailed in a window enveloggeeAm. Compl., Ex. A at ECF pp. Q2
(“Envelope”). Through the windows on the front of the envelope, any person who came into
contact with the letter could see tharcadia sent the letteto Vullings. See id. Arcadia’s
address and telephone numberealso visible through the top windoviee id.

1. DISCUSSION

A. Standard of Review— Motions for Summary Judgment

A district court “shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is n
genuine issue as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as afrfeaitér
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). Additionally, “[slJummary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pigadi
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, togethaheviaffidavits, if
any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and thatvthg party is
entitled to a judgment as a matter of I&wWright v. Corning679 F.3d 101, 1083d Cir. 2012)
(quotingOrsatti v. New Jersey State Poli@d, F.3d 480, 482 (3d Cir. 1995)An issue of fact is

“genuine” if “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdicefnonmoving



party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ind77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A fact is “material” if it
“might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing lad.”

The party moving for summary judgment has the initial burden “of informing théctlistr
coutt of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affjdaaty, which it
believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of nfattialCelotex Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (internal quotation marks omitted). Once the movigghparmet
this burden, the nonoving party must counter with “specific facts showing that there is a
genuine issue for trial. MatsushitaElec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Carp75 U.S. 574, 587
(1986) (citation omitted)seeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c) (stating that “[a] party asserting that a fact . . .
is genuinely disputed must support the assertion by . . . citing to particular partswhlsat
the record . . .; or . . . [by] showing that the materials cited do not establish theeabseda
genuine dispute”). The normovant must show more than the “mere existence of a scintilla of
evidencé for elements on which the norovant beas the burden of productiomAnderson477
U.S. at 252 (1986). Bare assertions, conclusory allegations, or suspicions areiensutiic
defeat summary judgmenBeeFireman’s Ins. Co. v. DuFresn&76 F.2d 965, 969 (3d Cir.
1982) (indicating that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment may hotrieeely
upon bare assertions, conclusory allegations or suspicidtistyewood Bd. of Educ. v. N.E. for
M.E., 172 F.3d 238, 252 (3d Cir. 1999) (explaining that “speculation and conclusory allegations”
do not satisfy nonmoving party’s duty to “set forth specific facts showirtgatganuine issue of
material fact exists and that a reasonable factfinder could rule fawvds’). Additionally, the
nommoving party “cannot rely on unsupported allegations, but must go beyond pleadings and

provide some evidence that would show that there exists a genuine issue forJoiaks v.



United Parcel Sery214 F.3d 402, 407 (3d Cir. 2000Yloreover, arguments made in briefs “are
not evidence and cannot by themselves create a factual dispute sufficient tcadafeahary
judgment motion.”Jersey Cent. Power & Light Co. v. Township of La@& F.2d 1103, 1109-
10 (3d Cir. 1985).

The court‘may not weigh the evidence or make credibility determinatiorBdyle v.
County of Alleghenyl39 F.3d 386, 393 (3d Cir. 1998) (citiRgtruzzi’'s IGA Supermarkets., Inc.
v. Darling-Del. Co. Inc, 998 F.2d 1224, 1230 (3d Cir. 1993)). Instead, “[w]henstering
whether there exist genuine issues of material fact, the court is requexanme the evidence
of record in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment,saherall
reasonable inferences in that party’'s favoishkn v. Potter476 F.3d 180, 184 (3d Cir. 2007).
The court must decide “not whether . . . the evidence unmistakably favors one sidetbethe
but whether a faiminded jury could return a verdict for the plaintiff on the evidence presented.”
Anderson477 U.Sat 252. “Where the record taken as a whole could not lead a ratienaif tr
fact to find for the [nomoving] party, there is no ‘genuine issue for trial” and the court should
grant summary judgment in favor of the moving pamjatsushita Eleclndus. Co.475 U.S. at
587 (citation omitted).

B.  Analysis

Vullings contends that the following sections of tHePA were violated as a result of
Arcadia’s letter and the envelope the letter was sent in: 15 U8SL692d;15 U.S.C. § 1692e
15 U.S.C.8 1692f 15 U.S.C.8 1692f(8);and 15 U.S.C. § 692g(a)(3). SeeAm. Compl. at 7.
The court will address the claims based on sections 1692f(8) and 1692g(a)(3) firstnatick the

other three provisions in turn.



Section 1692f(8) provides that no debt cdllecmay “[use] any language or symhol
other than the debt collector’'s address, on any envelope when communicating with a consume
by use of the mails or by telegram, except that a debt collector may use hesbusime if such
name does not indicate that he is in the debt collection business.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(8).
Vullings contends that Arcadia violated section 1692f(8) becausesisdss name-“Recovery
Bureau”™—‘strongly implies that it is in the debt collection busiegsm. Compl. at 4.

Section1692g(a)(3) provides that the debt collector must inform a consumer that “unless
the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, disputes the validitg debt, or
any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt collector . . ..” 158J.S.C.
1692g(a)(3). Vullings contends that Arcadia violated section 1692g(a)(3) img teérto call
“[i]f we can answer any questions, or if you feel that you do not owe this amoufit Am.
Compl.at 5. Vullings contends thalhis languagen inadequate under the FDCPA because it
implies that if a consumer wishes to dispute a debt¢hayimply call ArcadiaSee idat 5, 6.

Arcada is entitled to summary judgmemin Vullings’s claims under thesesections
becauseVullings is not a “consumer,” and only consumers can assert violations of these
provisions. Seel5 U.S.C. 1692f(8) (“[W]hen communicatingth a consumer . . .” (emphasis
added)); 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(&)A]fter the initial communication witha consumer. . . .”
(emphasis added)¥ee alsdwenrich v. Robert E. Cole, P,QNo. CIV. A. 002588, 2001 WL
4994, at *4 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 22, 2000 ¢ state [a] claim[] under Section[] . . . 16929, Parents
must be‘consumers’). In this regard, a defendant does not violate sections 1692f(8) or
1692g(a)(3) unlesa “consumer”is the recipient of the communicatiom question. Seel5
U.S.C. 8§ 1692f(8); 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(8¢e also Hall v. Nationstar Mortg., LL.@55 F.

Supp. 3d625, 634-35(E.D. Pa. 2015ffinding thatcourt lacked subjeanatter jurisdiction over



FDCPA claim becausplaintiff lacked standing to sue insofar as she was not a consumer for
purposes of section 1692c as the two communications in question were senestate and
plaintiff sued in her individual capacity and not in her capacity as exealftrike estate
Christy v. EOS CCA905 F. Supp. 2d 648, 6524 (E.D. Pa. 2012ffinding that plaintift—who

was not a consumerlacked standing to sue under section 1692c(b) because section 1692c
defines a violation in terms of a consume® consumer is “any natural person obligated or
allegedly obligated to pay any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). This definition is broadened for
purposes of 15 U.S.C. § 1692c to incluitee consumer’s spouse, parent (if the consumer is a
minor), guardian, executor, or administratot3 U.S.C8 1692c.

In this caseVullings is not a consumer because she doewet the debt Arcadia is
seeking to collect.In her capacity aan administratorof Birtwistle’s Estate Vullings would
have beera consumelat least for purposes of section 1692&ee id. But in herpersonal
capacity she is not a consumer because she isndotidually obligated to pay the debt Arcadia
is seeking to collect.

Vullings tries to overcome the fact thsihe is not a consuméry referencingsection
1692k. SeePl.’s Br. at ECF p. 10. Section 1692kle damages provision of the FDCRAd it
doesnot limit recovery to consumersSeel5 U.S.C. § 1692k.Vullings’s reliance on section
1692k ismisplaced

To reach damages undsection1692k, Vullings must first establish a violation of one of
the FDCPA’ssubstantive provisionsSeeWeniich, 2001WL 4994, at 34 (noting that while
“the grant of a cause of action undsedtion1692k] . . .is given to‘any persoh. . . under
certain sectionsf the FDCPA, a plaintiff must be @nsumer’. . . to have a cause of action

because those sections define violations in terms of conduct directed tovcartsamer.”).



Here, Vullings is attempting to establish a substantive violation througiorsed 692f(8) and
1692g(a)(3). SeeAm. Compl. at 7. Because bth of those provisions require her to be a
consumer, her claims under these provisions never reach section 1692k. Consequently, section
1692k is irrelevant to the court’s analysis of these two claifinerefore the court must dismiss
theseclaimsfor lack of subjecmatter jurisdictiorbecause/ullings lacks standing to sue insofar
as shechose to proceesblelyin her individual capacitpn these two claimsSeeJan. 10, 2018
Order.

Turning to Vullings’s claims undersection 1692d, this section states that “[a] debt
collector may not engage in any conduct the natural consequence of which is$) bppaess,
or abuse any person in connection with the collection of a debt.” 15 U.S.C. §8 1692d. This
provision “prohibits only oppressive and outrageous conduggeattie v. D.M. Collections, Inc.
754 F. Supp. 383, 394 (D. Del. 1991). Practices that violate this provision likely include
“[Olbscene or profane language, threats of violence, telephone calls at unreasmnab|
misrepresetation of a consumer’s legal rights, disclosing a consumer’s personals afbair
friends, neighbors, or an employer, obtaining information about a consumer through false
pretense, impersonating public officials and attorneys, and simulating legaspr Christy,
905 F. Supp. 2dat 654 (alteration in original)(quoting S. Rep. No. 9882, at 2, 1977
U.S.C.C.A.N. 1695, 1696).

Vullings contends that Arcadia’s practice of including its nafifecadia Recovery
Bureau”) on the outside of the envelope violated this provision because it “disclosiefl] [
personal affairdo others. Pl.’s Br. at 16. Specifically, Vullingsasser$ that Arcadia’s hame

reveals that it is a debt collectogee idat 17. She argues thahé combination oits business
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name withthe fact that the letter was addressed and mailedrionplies that Arcadia sought to
collect a debt from herSee idat 16-17.

Evenif the presence of Arcadia’s nartedegrapls the nature of its businestis claim
would still fail. “Generally,whether conduct harasses, oppresses, or abuses will be a question
for the jury.” Hoover v. Monarch Recovery Mgmt., In888 F. Supp. 2d 589, 596 (E.D. Pa.
2012)(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). That said, “the conduct .st stillmeet
a threshold level in which the facts support a reasonable inference that [théf]pkeastl . . a
plausible claim to relief under § 1692dSee d. (dismissing claimra under section 1692d because
“plaintiff’s claims do not rise to the level of sesmess against which 8§ 1692d is intended to
protect”). Here, like irHoover, merelystating “Arcadia Recovery Bureau” on the outside of the
letterdoes not “rise to the level of seriousness against which § 1692d is intended to pidtect.”
No reasonablguror could find that thisconduct“would naturally tend to harass, oppress or
abuse.” Seel5 U.S.C. § 1692dsee alsoDavis v. Phelan Hallinan & Diamond PR@G87 F.
App’x 140, 14546 (3d Cir. 2017)(affirming district court’s grant of summary judgmentdan
holding that sending two notice of intention to foreclose letters to wianhdyesseslid not
violate section 1692d because “thauralconsequencppf the condudt. . . [was] not to abuse,
harass, or oppress [the] debtorQhristy, 905 F. Supp. 2dt 65254 (granting summary
judgment in favor of defendadebt collectorand holding that debt collectidetterintended for
plaintiff's son but erroneouslgddressed to plaintiff aniehcorrectly mailedto wife’s place of
work did not violate section 1692d).

Vullings’s argumentthat this statement disclosed her personal affdoes not change
this conclusion. The text of the Senate report indicates that when Congress stated that

“disclosing a consumer’s personal affairs” woulbbably violate the statute it was likely
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considering conduct more egregious than Arcadia’s name being viewable through the top
window of the envelope. Indeed, some of the other examples are “obscene Idrtjuages of
violence,” “misrepresentation of a camser’s legal rights,” and “obtaining information about a
consumer through false pretense . . ..” In light of the gravity of these examplespiieiskaly

that Congress-by referencing “disclosing a consumer’s personal affaiwas contemplating a
situation less like the one here and more like one where a debt collector disclosestémeexis

or nature of the debt in an effort to pressure and coerce the debtor to pay.

Two other points bear mentioning-irst, the fact that this conduct (“Arcadieédvery
Bureau”being visible through the top window ¢time envelope) may violate another provision of
the FDCPA seePl.’s Br. at 1617, does not change thisonclusion. Vullings argued that
Arcadia’sinclusion ofits name on the outside label violatestson 1692f(8). See idat 16-11.

As already discussed, the courtdismissing Vullings’sclaim under section 1692f(8) because
Vullings is not a consumer. That said, if Vullingasa consumer, she would hasarvived
summary judgment on her clainnder section 1692f(8)ecausethere is a possibilitythat
Arcadia’sbusines:iame indicates thdtis in the debt collection business.

Nonethelessthe fact that thigonductmay haveviolated section 1692f(8) does not mean
it also violated sectionGB2d. Nothing in section 1692d indicates that liabilibgler that section
should bepredicatedon a violation of another provisiofsuch assection 1692f(8)) Seel5
U.S.C. § 1692d. Section 1692sl straightforward: “a debt collector may not engage in any
conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any ensoect
with the collection of a debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. Under that languagegntirely possible-
asthe court finds to béhe case herethat an envelope might violasection 1692f(8) but not

have the“natural consequence” ofiarassing, oppressing, or abusing the recipient of the
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envelope. Cf. Tschudin v. Brumbaugh & QuandalP.C., LLQ No. 8:14Vv299, 2014 WL
7272668, at *In.2(D. Neb. Dec. 18, 2014oldingthatdefendantid not violate section 1692d
despite another couttaving held similar conduct violated section 1692f(8)Additionally,
Vullings has not citedo any cases that support basing section 16@bdity on a violation of
1692f(8).

Second, Vullingscontends that Arcadia told her that a claim had been filed in probate
court on the underlying deldtut she alleges that a claim was never actually. figek e.g, Pl.’s
Br. at 16 see alsdecl. in Supp. of Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 2 (*Arcadia, through its vendor .
. . sent a letter to the Plaintiff . . . advising of the filing of the Estate claiiddg. No. 392;
Decl. in Opp. to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. a(*1 have contacted the Berks County Register of
Wills and Orphan’s Court on three occasions by phone and once in writing, the last tigne bei
just prior to this filing, and each time the Court has confirmed that the Estate Clagedab
Arcadia was never filed.”Doc. No. 423. She asserts that this makes the letter misleading and
harassing, andlsoargues that the cousthould denyArcadia’s motionas toher section 1692d
claim because of this alleged misrepresentati®eePl.’s Br. & 16.

While these allegations may very well make the letter unlawliely arerrelevant to the
issues presented in thtase thus far. Thamendedcomplaint does not contemplate a section
1692d claim basedn Arcadia’s failure to filea claim on thainderlying dehtlet alone mention
that allegation See generallyAm. Compl. At present Vullings’s claims in the amended
complaint are based primarily off of twofactual allegations(1l) the statement in the letter
directing the recipient to call Arcadiand (2) Arcadia listing their full business name way
that was viewable fronthe outside of the envelopeSee id.at 4-8. The amendedomplaint

would be completelydifferent if Vullings had contemplated pursuing relief based on the
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allegation thatArcadia never filed a claim on the underlying debt. Thusatse a claim of this
nature under section 1692d, she would htveeek leave to file an amended complaint, be
granted leaveandfile a second amended complairBee Carr v. Gilk Associateé Indus., Ingc.
227 F. App’x 172, 176 (3d Cir. 200T)District Courts have broad discretion to disallow the
addition of new theories of liability at the eleventh hoursde, e.g.Alston v. Park Pleasant,
Inc., CIV. A. No. 14-7237, 2015 WL 6180967, & n.3(E.D. Pa. Oct. 21, 201%barring theory

of liability pursued for first time by plaintiff in opposition to motion for summary judgt
because there were not “specific factual allegations in [the plaihtd®@mplaint” to support
theory),aff'd, 679 F. Appx 169 (3d Cir. 2017) As those events have not occurred, the court is
limited to the current record and, based on this record, summary judgment is approgaabr

of Arcadia on Vullings’s section 1692d claim.

With regards tovullings’s claim undersection 1692ethis sectionstates that “[a] debt
collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representatisgans in connection
with the collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. Vullings contends that Arcadiaraestate
in the letterstating,“[i]f you have any questions or if this is a duplicate claim, please call our
company’ Letter at ECF p. 12, was deceptive under section 1692e because it violates section
1692g. SeeAm. Compl. at 47. Section 1692gequires debt collectors to include a validation
notice that describes the process by which the recipient of the letter may dispdebt.Seel5
U.S.C. § 1692gDeceptive statements create liability under section 1@)Zghey overshadow
(i.e., contradict) the validation notic&ee id.

Arcadia advances twmitial arguments for why the court shoudant judgment in its
favor on Vullings’s section 1692daim. SeeDef.’s Br. at7-10, 1214. First, Arcadia argues

that the statement was not dettee. See idat ~10. Second, Arcadia argues that, even if it was
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deceptive, it does not overshadow the validation ndticeluded at the bottom of the first page
of the letter.See idat 12-14. Neitherof Arcadia’s arguments here are persuasive.

In Caprio v. Healthcare Revenue Recoveryo@p,LLC, 709 F.3d 142 (3d Cir. 2013), the
Third Circuitaddressed similar language in a letter sent by a debt colléthar.Third Circuit
held that the following language was deceptive: “If we can answer @@stigns, or if you feel
you do not owe this amountjease callus toll free at800-984-911%r write us at the above
address.” Id. at 145. The courtalso held thathis statemenbvershadowed the debt collector’s
validation notice.See idat 152-54.

The Third Circuit addressed tladorementionedanguage under the “least sophisticated
consumer” standardSee id.at 151. This standard is “lower than simply examining whether
particular language would deceive or mislead a reasonable dehldoat 149 (quotation marks
and citation omitted) Under this standard, a debtor could be conflm#dieentwo messages:
one whichtells the consumeto call the debt collectorf he or she haguestions, the other
(contained in the validation notice) whitdlls the debtothat he or shehould write ifhe or she
disputesthe debt. See idat 15152. Consequentlythe letter violated botkection 1692e and
section1692g. See idat 15155.

The court opinedhat “the analysis of the § 1692g claim [will] usually [be] dispositive”
in resolving the section 1692e claind. at 155(quotation marks and citation omitted). This
statement is understandablecausetiwould be strange if a statement veafficiently deceptive
to overshadow the validation notice (and thus incur liability under section 1692g), but was not
deceptive under section 1692e.

Arcadia tries to usehis statement fromCaprio—that the section 1692g outcome will

usually be dispositive of the section 1692e analy&ssupport its argument that the court
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should dismis&/ullings’s claim under section 1692&eeDef.’s Br. at 13. As discussed above,
Vullings cannot succeed under section 1692g because she is not a conBeosrseCaprio
sayssection 1692@nd sectiorl692eanalyss will usually paralleleach othersee Caprip 709
F.3dat 155, Arcadia believegullings’s section 1692e claim shou&dsofail. This argument is
unavailing.

The substantive allegations here are sufficienegtablish claimaunder both sction
16929 and section 1692e, but Vullings fails under section 1692g because of a lack of standing
(i.e,, she is not a consumerpeels U.S.C. § 1692¢g. The court has already explained that if
Vullings had been a consumer, her claim undection1692gwould have survived summary
judgment But section 1692e, unlike section 169@gesnot limit recoveryto consumers.See
15 U.S.C. 81692e. Thus, it is entirely foreseeable that Vullings could recover undesnsect
1692e but not section 1692@&aprio does not bar this possibilitinstead Caprio indicatesthat
a finding of liability under section 1692g strongly implies liability undetise 1692e.See709
F.3dat 155. Caprio does not state, hold, otherwiseimply that the technical requirements that
may bar liability under section 1692g also bar liability under section 169%xe id.
Accordingly, inlight of the outcomen Caprio, and the similarity between the language in the
letter there and the language in the letter higve,courtwill deny summary judgment on this
claim. SeelLaniado v. Certified Credit & Collection Buread05 F. App’x 8789 (3d Cir. 2017)
(holding letter with “please call” language violated FDCPA).

Vullings’s final claim is raised unddi5s U.S.C. § 1692f.SeeAm. Compl. at 7. Section
1692f states that “[a] debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable means tb @ollec
attempt to collect any debt. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f. This is a “catckall” provision and‘[a]

complaint wil be deemed deficient undeg [1692f] if it does not identify any misconduct

16



beyond which plaintiffs assert violate other provisions of the FDCP8ifouse v. Enhanced
Recovery Co.L.L.C, 956 F. Supp. 2d 627, 637 (E.D. Pa. 20EKerations in originalfquoting
ShandPistilli v. Prof'| Account Servs., IncCiv. A. No. 16CV-1808, 2010 WL 2978029, at *6
(E.D. Pa. July 26, 20)p see also Bennett v. Asset Recovery Sols.,, ING 14CV-
4433DRH)(SIL), 2017 WL 432892, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 5, 20lréport and recommendation
adopted Civ. A. No. 144433DRH)(SIL), 2017 WL 421920 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 31, 2017)
(“[Section 1692f]of the FDCPA is a ‘catchall provision’ serving as ‘a backstop function’
catch practices that are not covered by other sections of the St@titiééion omitted). Here,
the court is unable to identify any conduct in #@mendectcomplaint that would allegedly violate
section 1692f but does not also allegedly violate a separate provision of the FDCPA.

Vullings attempts to circumvent this shortcoming by arguing that the letter was
misleading because her counsel discovered that Arcadia never filed a claawidérlying
debt. SeePl.’s Br. at 19. This allegations insufficient to establish liability under section 1692f
for two reasons First, it does not satisfgtrousebecausé/ullings argues that this also violates
other provisions of the FDCPA (see discussion abo8eg956 F. Supp. 2d at 63T herefore it
is not “misconduct beyond whicfthe plaintiff] asseffs] violatgs] otha provisions of the
FDCPA.” Id. Second, this allegatiors not contemplated by th@mendedcomplaint. See
generallyAm. Compl. For the same reasons identified by the coutterdiscussion of the
section 1692d claim, Vullings canretinder theamendedcomplaint—pursue asection 1692f
claim based on the allegation that Arcadia never filed a claim on the underlying debt. hAs suc

Arcadia is entitled to summary judgment in its favor on Vullings’s section 1698f.cla
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IV.  CONCLUSION

In sum, two ofVullings’s claims fail becausan her individual capacity, she is not a
consumerand therefore lacks standing to suwo others fail because tlhudisputed facts do
not, as a matter of law, support a claim for relief under the FDCI?Ws, the only claim which
survives is Vullings’s section 1692&im becauséhe undisputed facts do netarrant summary
judgment in favor of Arcadia undeurrentThird Circuit precedent

In addition to her substantive arguments)lings attemptso thwart summary judgment
by arguing(1) thatthis motion ispremature and2) that Arcadia never filed a claim on the
underlying debt. Neither of these argumeats persuasive. Vullings’'s argumentsegarding
timing are unavailng becausehie motion wasresdvable (and ultimately, resolvedjimost
entirely on the pleadings, the lettemd the envelope. Similarly, Vullings’s argumentthat
Arcadia nevefiled a claim on the underlying deistirrelevant to the pient motim becausehe
amended complaint does not contemplate cldias®d on facts @hat nature. For these reasons
the court grants the motion for summary judgment in part and denies it in part.

The court will enter a separate order.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Edward G. Smith
EDWARD G. SMITH, J.
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